IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the Estate of:

THEODORE E. SCHEIDE JR. aka THEODORE ERNEST SCHEIDE JR.

Deceased.

THEODORE E. SCHEIDE, III,

Appellant,

v.

ST. JUDE CHILDREN'S RESEARCH HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

No. 84279 Electronically Filed
District Court Casta 2023 04:33 PM
P-14-082619-E Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

Appellant's Opening Brief

Bradley Hofland, Esq.HOFLAND & TOMSHECK

228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 702-895-6760 Attorney for Appellant

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from of the Lower Court's adverse ruling to Appellant's motion to strike a fraudulently submitted Petition naming St. Jude's Research Hospital as Petitioner. The matter was decided by the Honorable Gloria Sturman on April 14, 2021. Respondent did not prepare the Order denying motion to strike and countermotion for attorney's fees and costs until January 11, 2022¹. Notice of Entry of that Decision and Order was filed January 21, 2022. There were no tolling motions filed and on February 21, 2022 Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b), this appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

X

¹ Respondent incorrectly referred to the hearing date as July 30, 2021.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the lower court erred in its interpretation and application of controlling statutes.
- 2. Whether violation of NRS 136.100(2) divests the lower court of jurisdiction to admit a lost will pursuant to NRS 136.240.
- 3. Whether the lower court lacked jurisdiction to adjudicate the Petition naming St. Jude's Research Hospital as Petitioner;
- 4. Whether the Court erred in denying Petitioner/Movant's motion to strike and countermotion for attorney's fees and costs;
- 5. Whether the Court erred in failing to make the requisite factual findings in denying Petitioner/Movant's motion;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The decedent, THEODORE E. SCHEIDE JR. ("Theodore") died on August 17, 2014, in Clark County, Nevada, and was a resident of the State of Nevada at that time and for all applicable time periods (1 ROA 1-4). Susan Hoy was appointed as Administratrix of the estate (1 ROA 6), with letters of Administration issued May 26, 2015 (1 ROA 33-34). No original 2012 documents, or powers of attorney, were ever located and the estate therefore proceeded under intestate succession (Id).

Accordingly, the Administrator filed, *inter alia*, a First and Final Report and Accounting and Petition for Final Distribution and Approval of Costs and Fees for

the benefit of Theodore ("Chip") Scheide ("Appellant"), the decedent's son (1 ROA 42-47). Prior to the matter being heard, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital ("St. Jude") filed a Notice of Appearance (1 ROA 48-50). Subsequently, St. Jude's local counsel², filed a document captioned "Petition for Probate of Lost Will (NRS 136.240); Revocation of Letters of Administration (NRS 141.050); Issuance of Letters Testamentary (NRS 136.090)" ("subject petition"), purportedly through St. Jude (1ROA 98-150). However, the document confirms it was verified by a "Fred E. Jones, Jr." of "Lebanese Charities³", and *not* St. Jude, who filed the legally impermissible and subject Petition (Id.).

Notably, counsel for St. Jude *never* disclosed to the Court that their client, a "nonprofit" corporation, was "not qualif[ied] to do business in this State" and thus, as a matter of law, disallowed and unable to "commence or maintain any action or proceeding in any court of this State", nor did counsel disclose Lebanese Charities

_

² The Firm of Hutchison & Steffen, LLC filed a Notice of Appearance as counsel for St. Jude only.

³ Lebanese Charities is short for American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities ("Lebanese Charities").

⁴ As detailed from available records, the term "nonprofit" is used loosely. Indeed, the record confirms that in 2018 alone, St. Jude received \$974,758,247.00 in contributions and grants, and had total assets of \$6,214,238,431.00. Lebanese Charities is also a 501(c)(3) Corporation who in 2018 alone, received \$1,667,190,856.00 in contributions and grants, and had total assets of \$5,461,105,812.00.

⁵ NRS §82.5234. Such concealment, if known, would constitute a violation of the duty of candor that is owed this Court (*see Thomas v. City of NLV*, 122 Nev. 82, 127 P.3d 1057 (2006)); and if not known, an arguable violation of NRCP 11 and failure to perform adequate due diligence.

(who, according to the record, was *never* represented by Hutchinson & Steffen) lacked standing, did not have a legally recognizable interest in the matter, and was committing fraud upon the Court with the filing of the petition (Id., NRCP 17).

Accordingly, lack of subject matter jurisdiction and the resulting jurisdictional prohibition stemming from the misuse of the legal system, and corresponding manipulation/fraud upon this Court, was not known nor addressed, and equally disturbing, Lebanese Charities, posing as St. Jude, was allowed to seek unfair, unwarranted, and impermissible financial gain (*see infra*).

As a result, an evidentiary hearing regarding the subject matter of the (impermissible and fraudulent) petitions Lebanese Charities filed under the guise of St. Jude, was conducted on June 15 and 16, 2017 on the sole issue of NRS 136.240(3) of whether the October 2012 will would be admitted to Probate (3 ROA 674-85). The District Court issued a Decision and Order dated August 6, 2017 favoring appellant (Id). St. Jude filed Notice of Appeal on September 6, 2018 (3 ROA 686-87). The Nevada Supreme Court—addressing only the issues raised with respect to a "lost will" and the probate thereof, in part reversed that Decision⁶.

Notwithstanding, application of controlling precedent, coupled with the irrefutable facts of this case, confirm the petition filed (*not* by St. Jude, as provided for in the caption), but through Lebanese Charities "on St. Jude's behalf" was

⁶ Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 76924; decision dated December 31, 2020.

improper, disallowed and impermissible as a matter of law (*see infra*). St. Jude *admits* that Lebanese Charities and St. Jude are two separate entities *and* that Lebanese Charities is the *only* foreign nonprofit corporation that is qualified to do business in this State (see 6 ROA 1342-58). Though disallowed by law, St. Jude maintains they can circumvent the law by corporate resolution (Id.)⁷. The law, however, does not provide St. Jude the right or authority to initiate or commence litigation in this State⁸.

Because the law does not allow St. Jude or Lebanese Charities to circumvent the law and the jurisdictional foundation that must be established, their doing so is/was disallowed, improper, and impermissible as a matter of law and cannot stand⁹. Equally important—and fatal to the relief sought by St. Jude and Lebanese Charities— with the lower court lacking subject matter jurisdiction, all orders issued in this matter must necessarily be vacated and set aside¹⁰. The lower court denied appellants motion to strike (6 ROA 1384), but did not prepare the subject order. The

_

⁷ Notably, St. Jude conceals the fact that Court Rules and jurisdictional mandates cannot be circumvented through corporate resolution—and significantly, fail to submit any legal authority that would support such an absurd result. While St. Jude "corporately resolved" to allow Lebanese Charities to "handle and administer" the pursuit of funds for St. Jude, corporate resolution does not displace or supersede Court Rule and jurisdictional mandates.

⁸ See NRS 82.5234(2); I(B), infra.

⁹ See infra.

¹⁰ See Section 1(A), infra.

subject order was prepared by counsel appearing for St. Jude (6 ROA 1385-91). That order is legally unsustainable, and subject to reversal on appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

THEODORE E. SCHEIDE JR. died on August 17, 2014, in Clark County, Nevada, and was a resident of the State of Nevada at that time and for all applicable time periods (1 ROA 1-5). Susan Hoy was appointed as Administratrix of the estate (1 ROA 6), with letters of Administration issued May 26, 2015 (1 ROA 33-34). As confirmed by the record and before this Court, no original 2012 documents were ever located and the estate therefore proceed under intestate succession (Id.).

Thus, the Administrator filed, *inter alia*, a First and Final Report and Accounting and Petition for Final Distribution and Approval of Costs and Fees for the benefit of Theodore ("Chip") Scheide, the decedents son (1 ROA 42-47). Prior to the matter being heard, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital ("St. Jude") filed a Notice of Appearance (1 ROA 48-50), and through local counsel¹¹ filed a document captioned "Petition for Probate of Lost Will (NRS 136.240); Revocation of Letters of Administration (NRS 141.050); Issuance of Letters Testamentary (NRS 136.090)" ("subject petition"), purportedly through St. Jude (1 ROA 51-73). However, the document confirms a "Fred E. Jones, Jr." of "Lebanese Charities¹²",

¹¹ The Firm of Hutchison & Steffen, LLC filed a Notice of Appearance as counsel for St. Jude only.

¹² Lebanese Charities is short for American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities ("Lebanese Charities").

and not St. Jude, who verified and filed the legally impermissible and subject Petition (Id.).

Counsel for St. Jude *never* disclosed to the Court that their client, a "nonprofit" corporation, was "not qualif[ied] to do business in this State" and thus, as a matter of law, disallowed and unable to "commence or maintain any action or proceeding in any court of this State" nor did counsel disclose Lebanese Charities (who, according to the record, was never represented by Hutchinson & Steffen) lacked standing, did not have a legally recognizable interest in the matter, and was committing fraud upon the Court with the filing they allowed (Id.) Accordingly, the jurisdictional prohibition stemming from the misuse of the legal system, and corresponding manipulation/fraud upon this Court, was not known nor addressed, and equally disturbing, Lebanese Charities, posing as St. Jude, was allowed to seek unfair, unwarranted, and impermissible financial gain.

As a result, an evidentiary hearing regarding the subject matter of the (impermissible and fraudulent) petitions Lebanese Charities filed under the guise of St. Jude, was conducted on June 15 and 16, 2017 on the sole issue of whether, under

¹³ As detailed herein, the term "nonprofit" is used loosely.

¹⁴ NRS §82.5234. Such concealment, if known, would constitute a violation of the duty of candor that is owed this Court (*see Thomas v. City of NLV*, 122 Nev. 82, 127 P.3d 1057 (2006)); and if not known, an arguable violation of NRCP 11 and failure to perform adequate due diligence.

¹⁵ See Fn. 8, supra.

NRS 136.240(3), the October 2012 lost or destroyed will would be admitted to Probate (3 ROA 674-85).

The District Court issued a Decision and Order dated August 6, 2018, finding St. Jude failed to meet its burden of proof that the Will was not revoked during the Decedent's lifetime (Id). St. Jude filed Notice of Appeal on September 6, 2018 (3 ROA 686-87). That the matter was reversed by the Nevada Supreme Court (No. 76924) in its decision dated December 31, 2020, which in part reversed that Decision.

Notwithstanding, the law clearly establishes neither St. Jude nor Lebanese Charities can seek or maintain suit in this State (4 ROA 689-938, 5 ROA 939-1188). Controlling legal authority and precedent likewise confirm the absence of authority and jurisdiction over the relief requested by St. Jude/Lebanese Charities, and thus, all orders must be vacated and set aside (*See* Section I, *infra*).

Notably, according to St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Inc. (hereinafter "St. Jude) is a 501(c)(3) Corporation doing business in Memphis, Tennessee, and according to its tax returns, its revenue is as follows:

	<u>2017</u>	<u>2018</u>
Contributions and grants	\$851,803,301.00	\$974,758,247.00
Program service revenue	117,420,862.00	109,172,619.00
Investment income	(7,463,705.00)	(556,846.00)
Other revenue	18,895,861.00	24,595,111.00
TOTAL REVENUE:	\$980,656,319.00	\$1,107,969,131.00

Grants and similar amounts paid	(4,312,073.00)	(1,538,019.00)	
Salaries, other compensation			
and employee benefits16	(505,567,014.00)	(545,749,401.00)	
Other expenses	(440,836,545.00)	(474,154,881.00)	
TOTAL EXPENSES:	(\$950,715,632.00)	(\$1,021,442,301.00)	
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES:			
	\$29,940,687.00	\$86,526,830.00	
TOTAL ASSETS:	\$5,434,170,902.00	\$6,214,238,431.00	

(4 ROA 695-96).

As noted above, St. Jude Research Hospital is not registered with the Nevada Secretary of State's office to do business in this State as is required by statute (Id.) *See also* NRS 82 et. seq., NRS 82.5234.

According to Lebanese Charities tax returns, it too is a 501(c)(3) Corporation doing business in Memphis, Tennessee, and according to its tax returns, its revenue is as follows:

	<u>2017</u>	<u>2018</u>
Contributions and Grants	\$1,446,493,050.00	\$1,667,190,856.00
Investment income	168,588,999.00	212,808,116.00
Other revenue	36,903,186.00	39,767,318.00
TOTAL REVENUE:	\$1,651,985,235.00	\$1,919,766,290.00
Grants and similar amounts paid	(757,401,831.00)	(865,122,365.00)
Salaries, other compensation		

¹⁶Including "Travel" costs of almost 15 million per year, salaries from a low of \$654,000 to \$1,054,000 for the CEO, 401k type plans, and first-class expenses for the directors of the directors of well as any family members who accompany them

and employee benefits	(153,380,025.00)	(173,868,497.00)
Professional fundraising fees	(9,869,627.00)	(9,307,214.00)
Other expenses	(319,098,782.00)	(351,430,671.00)
TOTAL EXPENSES:	(\$1,239,750,265.00)	(\$1,399,728,747.00)

TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES:

\$412,234,970.00 \$520,037,543.00

TOTAL ASSETS: \$4,780,599,912.00 \$5,461,105,812.00

(4 ROA 695-96).

Lebanese Charities admits to being a "fundraiser" for St. Jude Research Hospital (Id).

As established herein, St. Jude is, and was, prohibited, as a matter of law, from commencing or maintaining any action in any court of this State. The subject Petition that was filed was not filed by St. Jude, but rather by Lebanese Charities violated the law, the duty of candor owed to this Court, and committed a fraud upon this Court for their own personal gain (1 ROA 51-73).

On March 16, 2021, the appellant filed a motion to strike the fraudulently submitted petition naming St. Jude's Research Hospital as Petitioner and related relief, based upon the aforementioned fraud, absence of authority, and lack of jurisdiction (4 ROA 689-938; 5 ROA 939-1188; 6 ROA 1189-1341). St. Jude filed an opposition thereto on March 26, 2021 (6 ROA 1342-1358), and a reply was filed on April 2, 2021 (6 ROA 1359-83). The motion was heard on April 14, 2021 (6 ROA 1384), and a decision and order were prepared by St. Jude and filed on January 11,

2022 (6 ROA 1385-91). Notice of Appeal was filed on February 21, 2021 (6 ROA 1401-02).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decedent, Theodore E. Scheide Jr. ("Theodore") was a resident of Nevada who died on August 17, 2014, in Clark County, Nevada. (Ex Parte Petition for Appointment of Special Administrator, filed 10/2/2014/ Petition for Instructions filed 05/06/2015) Theodore's original Last Will was never located. The Special Administratrix determined that Theodore destroyed any original estate planning documents. (Id) That pursuant to court orders, the estate was subsequently administered as an intestate succession. (See order dated May 26, 2015).

On May 20, 2016, the Respondent, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital ("St. Jude's) filed a notice of appearance in the matter. On September 13, 2016, without any first-hand knowledge, Fred E. Jones, Jr., a Director of American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities ("Lebanese Charities"), rather than any representative of the Real Party in Interest, St. Jude's, verified, and caused to be filed, a Petition for Probate of Lost Will (NRS 136.240); Revocation of Letters of Administration (NRS 141.050); and Issuance of Letters Testamentary (NRS 136.090), falsely and fraudulently representing as being prepared and submitted by St. Jude.

In addition to the violations of NRCP 11 and 17 addressed *infra*, the Petition was improperly filed and the resulting actions were disallowed and impermissible as a matter of law¹⁷. In sum, St. Jude was barred by law from filing or commencing litigation in Nevada, Lebanese Charities lacks/lacked standing to bring and maintain the action(s) fraudulently filed and maintained in the name of "St. Jude", and as a result thereof, the lower court lacked the authority and jurisdiction to adjudicate the matters fraudulently, wrongfully, and impermissibly filed by Lebanese Charities.

The abuse of the legal system and corresponding fraud upon the court cannot be condoned and must be remedied by this Honorable Court. The mischaracterizations of fact and law by St. Judge are legally insufficient to cure the violations of court rules, are insufficient to enable St. Jude to circumvent and violate established precedent, and legally inadequate to convey the requisite authority and jurisdiction upon the lower court to adjudicate the relief requested by Lebanese Charities (under the guise of St. Jude).

Accordingly, the subject Petition must be stricken from the record and all derivative actions therefrom must be set aside and vacated. Moreover, the law clearly prohibits any further action by Lebanese Charities and St. Jude.

_

¹⁷ See NRS 82.523, 82.523(2)

ARGUMENT/LEGAL ANALYSIS

- I. The lower court committed judicial error by adjudicating the subject Petition wrongfully filed by Lebanese Charities without authority and subject matter jurisdiction.
- A. The lower court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to address St. Jude's petition.

As a threshold matter, jurisdictional challenge can be raised at any time, even if raised for the first time on appeal¹⁸. Moreover, jurisdiction cannot be conferred by waiver or consent of the parties, and there is nothing the parties or a court can do to vest a court with subject matter jurisdiction over a matter than has not been conferred by law¹⁹. "[W]hen a judgment is shown to have been procured by fraud upon the court, *no worthwhile interest is served in protecting the judgment*."²⁰

Despite this fundamental principal, St. Jude and Lebanese Charities believe, and have abused the legal system accordingly, that they are able to circumvent the Rules of Civil Procedure, and invest subject matter jurisdiction when disallowed by

¹⁸ See Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 94 S. Ct. 1347, 39 L. Ed. 2d 662 (1974); Clark Cty. Deputy Marshals Ass'n v. Clark Cty., 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 799 (2018) (this Court finding it lacked jurisdiction after it first appearing it had such jurisdiction, "recognizing that a jurisdictional challenge "can be raised by the parties at any time, or sua sponte by a court of review).

¹⁹ See Scherer v. State, 89 Nev. 372, 513 P.2d 1232 (1973); White v. United States, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 143052 ("Subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred upon the courts by the actions of the parties and principles of estoppel and waiver do not apply").

²⁰ NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. 647, 650, 218 P.3d 853, 856 (2009).

established precedent and as matter of law, simply by way of corporate resolution (ROA Opposition to motion to strike, filed 3/26/21).

B. The Petition filed with the lower court was fraudulent, disallowed as a matter of law, and must be stricken from the record.

Courts have long recognized and held "[i]t is a fundamental precept of corporate law that each corporation is a separate legal entity"²¹ and considered a distinct person as a matter of law. Even closely held subsidiaries are separate and distinct entities. Indeed, courts have held two corporate entities "are separate and distinct legal entities" even if they have identical memberships and ownerships²². Even two corporations having the same management and "practically indistinguishable" are nevertheless separate entities and cannot be recognized as the same entity for standing²³.

In this matter, there are two separate and distinct corporate entities: (1) St. Jude Children's Research Hospital ("St. Jude")—in whose name the Petition was filed, and (2) the American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities ("Lebanese

²¹ See Kreisler v. Goldberg, 478 F.3d 209, 213 (2007); In re Commer. Mort., 414 B.R. 389 (2009) (same).

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