IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF THEODORE ERNEST SCHEIDE, JR., DECEASED.

THEODORE E. SCHEIDE, III,

Appellant.

v. ST. JUDE CHILDREN'S RESEARCH HOSPITAL, Docket No. 84279

Electronically Filed Jun 26 2023 06:12 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

RESPONDENT ST. JUDE CHILDREN'S RESEARCH HOSPITAL'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Eighth Judicial District Court Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge Civil Case No. P-14-082619-E

Joseph C. Reynolds (8630) Russel J. Geist (9030) HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 5371 Kietzke Lane Reno, Nevada 89511 jreynolds@hutchlegal.com rgeist@hutchlegal.com (775) 853-8746

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Chip raises a myriad of interwoven allegations and legal theories on appeal. Essentially, he maintains that the district court (and subsequently this Court) lacked subject matter jurisdiction over St. Jude's 2016 Probate Petition because it was verified by the Director of Legal for ALSAC; St. Jude is not registered to do business with the Office of the Nevada Secretary of State; and neither St. Jude nor ALSAC have proper standing to commence the action. He adds that St. Jude failed to properly notice its Probate Petition. On this basis, Chip argues that St. Jude was not a proper party and committed fraud by filing the Probate Petition. He contends that the district court improperly denied his Motion to Strike, and asks this Court to vacate all orders and opinions as being void. *See* AOB ii. Respectfully, he incorrect.

1. Disparagement And Allegations Of Fraud In The Opening Brief Are Patently Without Merit And Misplaced

At the outset, it must be acknowledged that the Opening Brief is replete with the use of false and disparaging adjectives and adverbs directed towards St. Jude and its legal counsel. For example, the Opening Brief asserts that St. Jude has committed acts of "fraud" and "manipulation" on this Court, *see* AOB 2, 3, 6, 14; behaved "falsely," *see* AOB 10; "abused the legal system," *see* AOB 10; "disregard[ed the] law," *see* AOB 29; acted with "unclean hands" and "bad faith," *see* AOB 29-32; "endeavor[ed] to wrongfully take the decedent's estate in a maneuver disallowed by law," *see* AOB 29; and "demonstrated a conscious disregard for the laws of Nevada and the integrity of the legal system and this Court." *See* AOB 31. Nothing could be further from the truth.

Such hyperbole, character attacks, and rhetoric have no basis in fact or law. They are uncivil, and the record does not support such assertions. Respectfully, St. Jude submits that such unfounded and disparaging remarks also have no place in this appellate matter or any professional legal discourse. *See* NRAP 28.2(a) (2), (3). As such, St. Jude will not further address each individual defamatory remark lodged against it in the Opening Brief. Simply put, they are categorically without merit and denied.⁸

St. Jude submits that the unique facts of this case and settled law (and its analysis) stand on their own. This should be the sole focus of this Court's review.

⁸ Chip's argument that St. Jude and ALSAC have violated NRS 462.200, which provides that the net proceeds of charitable lotteries and games must benefit Nevada, is misplaced. *See* AOB 30-31.

2. Newly Raised Arguments Are Untimely And Waived

St. Jude filed its Probate Petition on September 13, 2016. 1 AA 98-150. Chip filed an objection on October 4, 2016, but he did not raise the arguments now appearing on appeal. 1 AA 206-249. Since that time, this matter has undergone several years of proceedings before the district court in the years 2016 through 2018, *see* 1 AA 36-253; 2 AA 250-447; 3 AA 501-687, briefing and review by the Nevada Court of Appeals in the years 2019 through 2020, *see In re Estate of Scheide*, Docket No. 76924-COA (Order of Affirmance, Mar. 26, 2020); and, briefing and *en banc* review by this Court in the years 2020 and 2021, *see Matter of Estate of Scheide*, 136 Nev. 715, 478 P.3d 851 (2020) (rehearing denied on February 4, 2021).

Yet, it was not until March 16, 2021, and after this case was remanded by this Court to the district court, when Chip chose to file his instant Motion to Strike and raise new arguments for the first time *ever*. See 4 AA 689-711. Why he waited nearly five years to raise these new arguments is inexplicable. Accordingly, the district court properly found that Chip's arguments were untimely and waived. 6 AA 1385-1391. On this basis alone, they should be summarily denied.

(a). <u>No new evidence or facts</u>

The thrust of Chip's argument in his Motion to Strike appears to be the two-fold assertions that the agency relationship between St. Jude and ALSAC was unknown or somehow concealed *and* that St. Jude's incorporation status in Nevada was not disclosed. *See* AOB 14-26. Yet, the record belies his assertions. Indeed, St. Jude's Probate Petition filed on September 13, 2016, expressly stated that it was signed and verified by the "Director – Legal/ALSAC" as the legal "agent or authorized representative" for St. Jude to commence the action. 1 AA 107.

Moreover, during the June 15-16, 2017, evidentiary hearings held before the district court, St. Jude's Philanthropic Advisor specifically testified that she is "employed by ALSAC St. Jude Children's Research Hospital." *See* 2 RA 277. It was also well-known that St. Jude is based in Tennessee, not Nevada. *See* 1 RA 93, 103. Chip's legal counsel acknowledged this fact. *See* 1 RA 16; 2 RA 319. A casual search of the internet or the website of the Office of the Nevada Secretary of State at https://esos.nv.gov readily reveals St. Jude's corporate status—or any organization's incorporation status in Nevada. Nothing has ever been concealed. No evidence or facts in the record (or public realm) are new. Chip's failure to act does not transform his claims or render them viable.

(b). <u>Waiver on prior appeal</u>

It is well-settled by this Court that failure to raise a claim on appeal waives the issue. *See Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 480 n.24, 117 P.3d 227, 238 n.24 (2005) (explaining that issues that are not properly raised on appeal may be deemed waived); *see also* NRAP 28. Here, Chip failed to raise his instant claims during his first appeals before either this Court or the Nevada Court of Appeals.

It is true that subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, even for the first time on appeal. *See Landreth v. Malik*, 127 Nev. 175, 179, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (2011); *Colwell v. State*, 118 Nev. 807, 812, 59 P.3d 463, 467 (2002) (holding that "subject-matter jurisdiction is not waivable, and a court's lack of such jurisdiction can be raised for the first time on appeal"). Yet, failure to raise a jurisdictional challenge, where, as here, the purported factual basis for the challenge was known and readily available, must have a limitation. It should not be permitted to extend in perpetuity. At some point, litigation must cease and having a 'second bites at the apple' must be precluded. Nevertheless, as further explained below, *see infra* 22-34, Chip's attempt to characterize his claims as ones challenging subject matter jurisdiction are misplaced and legally flawed.

(c). <u>Unreasonable amount of time under NRCP 60</u>

The exact NRCP 60 basis for Chip's Motion to Strike remains unclear. What provisions of NRCP 60(b) or NRCP 60(d) confer relief are not specified. Nevertheless, no basis is timely.

To the extent Chip brought his Motion to Strike pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(1)-(3), it was required to be filed within 6 months of the district court's final and appealable order upon St. Jude's 2016 Probate Petition. Indeed, "[a] motion under Rule 60(b) must be made within a reasonable time—and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) no more than 6 months after the date of the proceeding or the date of service of written notice of entry of the judgment or order, whichever date is later." NRCP 60(c)(1) (emphasis This six-month period "represents the extreme limit of added). reasonableness." Union Petrochemical Corp. of Nev. v. Scott, 96 Nev. 337, 339, 609 P.2d 323, 324 (1980) (internal quotation marks omitted). The district court's order was issued on August 6, 2018. 3 AA 674-685. As stated above, Chip's Motion to Strike was filed on March 16, 2021. It was certainly well beyond the 6-month's allotted to be reasonable and timely pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(1)-(3).

To the extent Chip brought his motion to Strike pursuant to NRCP (b)(4)-(6) or NRCP 60(d), it is governed by a "reasonable" amount of time. See NRCP 60(c)(1); see also NC-DSH, 125 Nev. at 659-60, 218 P.3d at 861-62 (recognizing the 6-month time limit does not apply). However, approximately 55 months, *i.e.*, four years and seven months, passed between St. Jude filing its Probate Petition and Chip raising his claims of fraud. Such delay is unreasonable. It is also prejudicial.

(d). Barred by the doctrine of laches

In denying Chip's Motion to Strike, the district court found, amongst other reasons, that it was barred by the equitable doctrine of laches and that Chip's delay in raising his claims was "highly prejudicial" to St. Jude. 6 AA 1388. The district court was correct.

This Court has held that laches "may be invoked when delay by one party prejudices the other party such that granting relief to the delaying party would be inequitable." *Besnillian v. Wilkinson*, 117 Nev. 519, 522, 25 P.3d 187, 189 (2001). Indeed, "[l]aches is more than a party delaying the enforcement of his rights; it is delay that works a disadvantage to another," such that they cannot be restored to their former position. *State v. Rosenthal*, 107 Nev. 772, 778 819 P.2d 1296, 1301 (1991). Applicability of laches "depends upon the particular facts of each case." *Carson City v. Price*, 113 Nev. 409, 412, 934 P.2d 1042, 1043 (1997).

Again, here, Chip waited nearly five years after St. Jude filed its Probate Petition to raise his current challenges. He offers no reasonable explanation for his delay. As explained above, *see supra* 18-19, there was no new evidence or facts revealed. It is only after years of litigation, time, and expense by St. Jude, as well as use of judicial and public resources, that he has chosen to raise new claims. Such delay is improper and undoubtedly prejudicial to St. Jude. Accordingly, the district court properly held that Chip's claims were precluded by laches, in addition to the other reasons they are time bared and waived.

3. The District Court Had Jurisdiction Over This Matter

Perhaps recognizing that his claims were untimely and waived, Chip characterizes his Motion to Strike as a challenge to the jurisdiction of the district court (and subsequently this Court) over this case. *See* AOB 12-13. On this basis, he maintains that all prior decisions of the district court (and this Court) must be vacated. *See* AOB 26-29. However, his arguments are without merit.

(a). <u>Probate proceedings confer in rem jurisdiction</u>

Initially, it is well-settled that probate matters are "in the nature of an 'in rem' proceeding" and a district court "acquires jurisdiction over the estate and all persons for the purpose of determining their rights to any portion of the state." *Bergeron v. Loeb*, 100 Nev. 54, 58, 675 P.2d 397, 400 (1984). Once jurisdiction is established, a district court is entitled "to maintain and exercise its jurisdiction." *Id.* (citing *Kline v. Burke Const. Co.*, 260 U.S. 226, 229 (1922)).

Here, Theodore passed away as a resident of Clark County, Nevada. His October 2012 Will (and the property of his estate) and had his estate administered by the Eighth Judicial District Court. *See* 1 AA 1-9. St. Jude was the sole surviving and expressly named beneficiary in the Will. *See* 1 AA 110-125. Accordingly, the district court (and subsequently this Court) retained (and continue to retain) proper jurisdiction.

(b). <u>Conflating subject matter jurisdiction with standing</u>

Chip nevertheless contends that the district court (and subsequently this Court) lacked proper subject matter jurisdiction over St. Jude's 2016 Probate Petition. *See* AOB 12-13. Yet, Chip bases his argument on the tortured proposition that St. Jude lacked sufficient

standing to be a proper party and initially file its Probate Petition and, therefore, subject matter jurisdiction was never established. By doing so, Chip attempts to circumvent the fact that his claims are untimely and waived by citing in his Opening Brief to the long-held principle that subject matter jurisdiction is not waivable and can be raised at 'any time.' *See* AOB 12, 18, 26.

While this proposition is true, *see Colwell*, 118 Nev. at 812, 59 P.3d at 467 (recognizing that "subject-matter jurisdiction is not waivable"), it does not necessarily follow that a deficiency in standing equates to a *per se* lack of subject matter jurisdiction in every case.

Indeed, this Court declined in the 2021 unanimous *en banc* opinion Superpumper, Inc. v. Leonard, 137 Nev. 429, 495 P.3d 101 (2021), to embrace that proposition. Recognizing the difference between the development of federal and state views on the topic and that some states "have held that they are separate principles," this Court clarified in Superpumper that it has "never directly subscribed to the view that standing is an aspect of subject matter jurisdiction." Id. at 433 n.2, 495 P.3d at 106 n.2. In doing so, this Court specifically noted that it does "not necessarily agree" with that position. Id.

Yet, it declined to definitively reach the issue in *Superpumper*. Accordingly, Chip's premise on appeal that standing and subject matter jurisdiction are intertwined concepts in Nevada is misplaced. That suggestion has been rebuffed by this Court's in *Superpumper*. It has yet to be reached and is not necessary to do so in this appeal. As further explained below, St. Jude unquestionably had proper statutory standing.

4. St. Jude Is A Proper Party

Chip contends that St. Jude lacks standing and is somehow not a proper party in this case because ALSAC—St. Jude's fundraising organization and agent—verified its 2016 Probate Petition and, therefore, is not a real party in interest pursuant to NRCP 17. *See* AOB 17-24. He also maintains that St. Jude is not registered to do business in Nevada and, therefore, lacked standing to file the Probate Petition. *See* AOB 2, 6. These arguments are wholly misguided. He is wrong as matters of law and fact.

As an initial matter, it must be noted that St. Jude has been the official party of record recognized by this Court, as well as the Nevada Court of Appeals, and the district court throughout these proceedings for nearly seven years. St. Jude is the sole surviving named beneficiary in Theodore's Will. *See* 1 AA 110-125. It is axiomatic that St. Jude is a real party-in-interest pursuant to NRCP 17 and a proper party with standing to bring this case.

Standing is necessary is every case. This Court has explained: "The question of standing concerns whether the party seeking relief has a sufficient interest in the litigation," so as "to ensure the litigant will vigorously and effectively present his or her case against an adverse party." Nevada Policy Research Institute v. Cannizzaro, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 507 P.3d 1203, 1207 (2022) (quoting Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev. 732, 743, 382 P.3d 886, 894 (2016)). Generally, to have standing, a party must suffer an injury. See Morency v. State, Dep't of Educ., 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 63, 496 P.3d 584, 588 (2021). However, standing may also be established where it is recognized by statute. See Nat'l Assn. of Mut. Ins. Cos. v. Dep't of Bus. and Inds., Div. on Ins., 139 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 524 P.3d 470, 476 (2023); Fergason v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 131 Nev. 939, 952, 364 P.3d 592, 600 (2015). Here, St. Jude has statutory standing.

(a). <u>St. Jude had standing to bring its probate petition pursuant to NRS</u> <u>136.070</u>

NRS 136.070(1) provides that

[a] personal representative or devisee named in a will, or any other *interested person*, may, at any time after the death of the testator, petition the court having jurisdiction to have the will proved, whether the will is in the possession of that person or not, or is lost or destroyed, or is beyond the jurisdiction of the State.

(Emphasis added). An "interested person" is defined by NRS 132.185 as "a person whose right or interest *under an estate* or trust may be materially affected by a decision of a fiduciary or a decision of the court." (Emphasis added). And a "person" is defined by NRS 132.260 to include an "organization." *See also* 2 RA 335. Certainly, St. Jude is a non-profit charitable organization. It is also a named beneficiary to Theodore's October 2012 Will. St. Jude had (and continues to have) standing under Nevada law.

(b). <u>ALSAC is the fundraising organization for St. Jude and acted with</u> proper authority from St. Jude to verify its probate petition

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